RECEIVED

Dec 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000814

Folly East Indian Co., LLC, Appellant,

v.

City of Folly Beach Respondent,

and

Save Folly's Future Intervenor.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Alice F. Paylor (SC Bar#: 4380)
Bijan K. Ghom (SC Bar#: 103531)
Saxton & Stump, LLC
151 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 414-5080
afp@saxtonstump.com
bkg@saxtonstump.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. **Did the Trial Court err in finding that the Folly Beach Short Term Rental Ordinance was validly enacted pursuant to the initiative and referendum process despite the Supreme Court's holding in *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, which held that a land use regulation cannot be enacted by initiative and referendum process of § 5-17-30?**

- II. **Did the Trial Court err in finding there was no genuine issue as to a material fact when Respondent stripped Plaintiff's vested property right, a right that runs with the land, to rent its property on a short term basis?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. INTRODUCTION

Municipalities are not sovereign bodies with inherent powers. They are political subdivisions of the state with those powers delegated by state law. At the trial level in its briefing, the City defended the Ordinance as a police power ordinance as if that resolves the question. **There is no question that every zoning ordinance is also a police power ordinance.** Municipalities do not have the inherent power to restrict the use of real property or to zone property within its boundaries; they possess that power, which is an exercise of the police power, only insofar as it is delegated to them by the General Assembly. S.C. Const. art. I, § 1; *see* statutes *infra*. The Legislature gave to municipal corporations police powers, which are powers to make rules promoting the health, safety, and welfare of people. A zoning ordinance fits this description (and is defined that way) and is therefore a police power ordinance. However, our Legislature identified zoning ordinances as *unique* among police power ordinances. A statutory framework for regulating land use and planning was created by the Legislature and given to the municipalities, not merely for guidance, but for control.

The real issue in the pending action is whether the Ordinance adopted by referendum, because of its subject matter, must be enacted through the zoning process. The City has already answered that question by expressly recognizing the use of STRs and permitting that use in every

zoning district. The City cannot sidestep the zoning process through a citizen’s initiated referendum. In fact, the City did not enact this Ordinance through any power of its own, but was forced to do so because of the citizen’s initiative and referendum process. The Supreme Court has already rejected such circumvention as a nullification of the carefully developed zoning rules in *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 720 (S.C. 2000). At the trial level, the City claimed that it can zone or restrict the STR use under its “general police power.”¹ The City’s position is untenable as it would allow the City to ignore Title 6 of South Carolina’s Code of Laws setting forth the procedures to be followed when restricting or zoning property for specific uses.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Folly East Indian Co., LLC (hereinafter “Appellant”), a South Carolina Limited Liability Company is a real estate development company that owns and develops real properties on Folly Beach for use as short term rentals (“STRs”). Appellant currently owns real property located within the City of Folly Beach (hereinafter “Respondent Folly Beach” or “the City”) at 112 East Indian Ave. (units A & B), 114 East Indian Ave. (Units A & B), 116 East Indian Ave., and 118 East Indian Ave. (units A & B), Folly Beach, South Carolina 29439 and holds five Short Term Rental licenses for these properties². R., pp. 21-22. Appellant develops property on Folly Beach

¹ In a prior filing, the City cited a string of cases which hold that a license is a privilege and confers no property right. While it is true that a license does not bestow a property right, the citizens of Folly Beach have **always** possessed the property right to rent property on a short term basis. Thus, the City is using its “license” to take away an already existing property right, a property right that is listed as a permitted use under its zoning ordinance. Calling it a “license” does not change the fact that eliminating a permitted use (outside of the zoning process) is a violation of due process.

² Appellant has two properties currently in development at 112 East Indian Ave. When Appellant initially applied for two licenses for this location in October of 2022, the City told Appellant that, if the citizen’s initiated referendum passed, no STR license would be issued for those locations unless the certificates of occupancy were completed prior to the vote. See R. pp. 268-270, 271-273. On February 8, 2023, just one day before a scheduled hearing, Appellant learned through counsel that Respondent made an error and that these two license applications were, in fact, granted. See R. pp. 268-270, 271-273.

for the purpose of providing vacationers residential space on a short term basis, i.e., for a period of less than 30 days.

In 2020, the City formed an ad hoc committee to study STRs on Folly Beach. In response to the recommendations from this committee, the Mayor of Folly Beach introduced a proposed ordinance to City Council in 2021 attempting to restrict the number of non-owner occupied STRs allowed on Folly Beach to 800. At the time of the proposal, there were well over 1000 such STRs. R. pp. 337-. The Mayor subsequently proposed amendments in June of 2022 that would limit the short term rental business licenses for non-owner-occupied properties to 800. The Mayor's proposed ordinance amending the STR ordinance was rejected by City Council on June 28, 2022 R. p. 341.

On October 11, 2022, citizens filed a Petition to require an election on a similar proposed amendment to the STR ordinances. R. pp. 22-23. The City had the right to either adopt the proposed ordinance or hold an election for all qualified electors to vote on the Petition. The Folly Beach City Council again rejected the proposed ordinance on December 13, 2022. R. p. 23. The City subsequently held a special election pursuant to the citizen's initiated referendum on February 7, 2023 and the voters approved the Petition to change the STR ordinances. R. pp. 342. As a result of this special election, the City has enacted an ordinance that restricts the number of STR licenses and eliminates the transferability of current STR licenses to subsequent purchasers of licensed properties. There are currently more STR licenses than the allowed amount so now no new licenses will be issued until the number falls below the 800 cap, effectively eliminating the use as an STR for many.

Despite the change to the STR ordinances approved by the voters, "short term rentals remain an allowable use under the zoning code." R. pp. 337-346. At no point in time has

Respondent Folly Beach eliminated the use of property as an STR on Folly Beach. There is no question that the new ordinance, limiting the number of business licenses, in actuality is a land use regulation that bars future owners of properties from using them as an STR, an allowable use.

Short Term Rentals are defined in § 117.02 of the Folly Beach Code of Ordinances as “[r]esidential dwellings rented for less than 30 days, used in a manner consistent with the residential character of the dwelling” and states that “[t]ourist accommodations, including hotels, motels, inns, and bed and breakfasts, are not considered Short Term Rentals.” Vacation Rental is defined in the Zoning section of the Folly Code of Ordinances at § 161.02 as “a residential unit rented for 29 days or less that typically is utilized by tourists.” Thus, a Short Term Rental is a Vacation Rental under the Zoning ordinances and is referenced and included in the Table of Uses, § 164.01, and is listed as a permitted use in every zoning district in that table.

Pursuant to the authority conferred under § 6-29-710, Respondent enacted the City of Folly Beach Zoning and Land Development Ordinance (“ZDO”), which contains a comprehensive scheme for planning, approving, and rezoning real estate parcels to ensure efficient, equitable, and reasoned land use decisions in the City of Folly Beach. Folly Beach, South Carolina Code of Ordinances (amlegal.com), Code § 160 et seq. The purpose and intent of the ZDO “is to guide development in accordance with the existing and future needs of the city and its Comprehensive Plan, and to promote the public health, safety, convenience, order, appearance, prosperity, and general welfare of the landowners and residents of the city, and other members of the public.” *Id.* at § 160.03-01. In conjunction with the processes set forth in Title 6, the ZDO defines both the substantive and the procedural due process to which landowners are entitled prior to a zoning change and sets forth procedures which must be followed prior to changing a zoning classification. *See Folly Beach, South Carolina Code of Ordinances (amlegal.com)*, §§ 160, 162, *supra*.

Additionally, the South Carolina Vacation Rental Act, which was enacted prior to the Ordinance at issue, requires property owners to honor rentals for ninety days after the sale of property. Thus, if the Ordinance is upheld, then any person who purchases property would be prevented from complying with the Act because the STR license is not transferable, and a new property owner will not be able to get a new one.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On January 17, 2023, Appellant brought this action in the court of common pleas alleging the Ordinance adopted by Respondents was null and void. R. pp. 20-35. On the same day, Appellant filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction. R. pp. 36-37. Nine days later, Respondent Folly Beach filed a Memo in Opposition. R. pp. 38-167. The next day Save Folly's Future (hereinafter "Respondent Save Folly's Future" or "SFF") filed its Motion to Intervene along with a Memo in Support and Respondent Folly Beach filed a Motion to Dismiss. R. pp. 168-179.

Appellant filed the amended summons and complaint on February 15, 2023. R. pp. 244-252. Appellant subsequently filed a Motion and Memo in Support of Summary Judgment on March 15, 2023. R. pp. 253-283. Respondent Folly Beach filed a Motion and Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment on March 31, 2023.

Seven days later, Respondent Save Folly's Future's Motion to Intervene was granted. R. pp. 1-7. On April 19, 2023, Respondent Save Folly's Future filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) and a Memorandum in Support of the Motion to Dismiss and in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. R. pp. 450-484. Respondent Folly Beach subsequently filed a Supplemental Memo in Support of Summary Judgment on January 5, 2024. R. pp. 485-498. Appellants filed a Consolidated Memo in Opposition to Respondents Motions and Memoranda three days later. R. pp. 499-509. Respondent Folly Beach filed a Reply Memo in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on January 11, 2024. R. pp.

510-544. The court denied Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and granted Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment on March 7, 2024. R. pp. 8-16. Eleven days later Petitioner filed a Motion to Reconsider the Order denying Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and granting Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment. R. pp. 545-547. The Court denied Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider on April 17, 2024, and Appellant subsequently filed a timely Notice of Appeal on May 16, 2024. R. pp. 17-19, 552-584. Appellant filed Motion for Extension of Time to File and Serve Initial Brief on June 10, 2024, and said Motion was granted the next day.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment shall only be granted when there is no genuine issue as to a material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCP; *USAA Property and Cas. Inc. CO. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791 (2008). However, a grant of summary judgment is improper when further inquiry to the facts is needed to apply the law, or when the conclusions and inferences drawn from the facts are in dispute. *Id.* (citing *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Motedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995)). On appeal, all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence shall be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment to the City and denying Appellant’s motion for summary judgment because the Folly Beach Short Term Rental Ordinance was enacted via an improper procedure rendering it null and void.**
 - A. The Ordinance enacted by referendum is null and void as it is a zoning ordinance and not enacted in accordance with Title 6 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.**

As a preliminary matter, whether property can be rented on a short or long term basis is a zoning matter according to the majority of states that have addressed the matter.³ *See, e.g., Keen v. City of Manhattan Beach*, 77 Cal.App.5th 142 (2022) (determining that the City must amend its zoning ordinance in order to ban short term rentals); *South Weber City v. Cobblestone Resort LLC*, 511 P.3d 1207 (Utah 2022) (South Weber enacted a permit and business license for a property to be used as an STR pursuant to its zoning rules and procedure); *Chaumont v. City of New Orleans*, 302 So.3d 39 (2020) (the City of New Orleans regulates short term rentals as part of its zoning code); *Zaatari v. City of Austin*, 615 S.W.3d 172 (2019) (finding a zoning ordinance banning short term rentals to be unconstitutional) .

As further proof, one needs to only look at the City’s filings in this matter. The City cites to other municipalities that have banned or regulated short term rentals. All of these Municipalities did so pursuant to their respective zoning ordinance, rules, and procedure. *See* Exhibit B to Appellant’s Memo in Support of Preliminary Injunction (collecting zoning ordinances cited by Respondent).

B. The Ordinance regulates the use of land, therefore it must be enacted as a zoning ordinance and City has not followed the proper procedure to do so.

In this action, Appellant urges the Court to declare the short term rental restriction ordinance at issue in this case invalid in accordance with the holding of *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 720 (S.C. 2000), as clarified in *Greenville County v. Kenwood Enterprises, Inc.*, 353 S.C. 157, 577 S.E.2d 428 (2003). As the Supreme Court has stated in these two cases, a “**land use regulation cannot be effected via the referendum and initiative process.**” 353 S.C.167, 577 S.E.2d at 433 (emphasis added).

³ As discussed, *infra*, the City’s zoning ordinances recognize short term rentals as a matter for zoning considering this use (short term rentals) is a permitted use in every zoning district.

The Folly Beach Zoning Ordinance provides that short term rentals are an allowed use in every zoning district. The new Short Term Rental Ordinance, adopted as a business license ordinance, restricts the use of properties on Folly Beach by capping the number of properties that may be licensed as short term rentals. It cannot be disputed that this is a land use regulation since it affects how property owners can use their land. *See R. pp. 8-16.* If Folly Beach had enacted this ordinance in the due course of exercising its police powers, which it repeatedly rejected, the ordinance would be valid. Because the City Council only accepted the ordinance after a referendum under § 5-17-30, the ordinance is invalid and must be set aside as the Supreme Court held in the two cited cases.

Whereas, had the City followed the proper procedure to enact an amendment to the zoning ordinance, the business license would only serve in an administrative capacity. For example, in *Ani Creation, Inc. v City of Myrtle Beach Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, the city council enacted a zoning overlay regulating the use of retail spaces in the downtown area of Myrtle Beach. 440 S.C. 266, 275, 890 S.E. 748, 752 (2023). Pursuant to the zoning overlay, business owners were given an amortization period to cease any nonconforming retail operations. *Id.* However, if the nonconforming use continued then the business “would be subject to suspension or revocation of its business license.” *Id.* at 267, 753. Thus, when the proper procedures to amend the zoning ordinance are followed, the business license does not dictate how one may use their property because these are two separate issues: (1) the right to use your property in a certain way and (2) the right to operate a business. The former pertains to a zoning matter, while the latter is governed by general police powers.

This ordinance enacted by referendum and initiative is the first Folly Beach ordinance that limits and, in all new cases, eliminates the allowed use of a property as a short term rental. The

City repeatedly rejected the very land use changes proposed in the Ordinance until the City was compelled to enact the Ordinance by initiative and referendum under § 5-17-30, SC Code. *See R.* pp. 88-93, 337-346.

Put plainly, Appellant's action challenges the initiative and referendum process as the means to enact this land use regulation. Whether, as the City and SFF argue, the City can take away this right by other means (i.e., police powers or amending the Zoning Ordinance) is irrelevant here because the City rejected those methods and, instead, allowed the initiative and referendum process to do what the City Council refused to do. That is not allowed by Supreme Court precedent.

The "South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Enabling Act of 1994" combined existing Code provisions governing zoning and planning provisions for municipalities "into a single, comprehensive set of provisions available to local governments" contained in Title 5 and 6. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 720 (S.C. 2000). Title 6 of the South Carolina Code governs matters related to zoning, including the procedure that must be followed when a change in zoning is sought. As discussed above, this is not an inherent right of the City, but rather a delegated power from the state. Restatement (Fourth) of Property § 1.1 (Vol. 7) TD No 3 (2022). A regulation that changes the permitted use of certain parcels of land must be done by amending the zoning ordinance. *See Ani Creation, Inc.*, 440 S.C. 266, 890 S.E.2d 748 (zoning overlay was permissible regulation of the use of property when enacted by City Council in accordance with Title 6).

Under Title 6, a municipality's local planning commission must "undertake a continuing planning program for the physical, social, and economic growth, development, and redevelopment of the area within its jurisdiction. The plans and programs must be designed to promote public

health, safety, morals, convenience, prosperity, or the general welfare as well as the efficiency and economy of its area of jurisdiction.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-340(A). In the discharge of its responsibilities, the local planning commission has the power and duty to, among other things, “prepare and recommend for adoption to the appropriate governing authority or authorities as a means for implementing the plans and programs in its area . . . zoning ordinances to include zoning district maps and appropriate revisions thereof, as provided in this chapter.” *Id.* at § 6-29-340(B). The Legislature specifies in Title 6 that “[z]oning ordinances must be for the general purposes of guiding development in accordance with existing and future needs and promoting the public health, safety, morals, convenience, order, appearance, prosperity, and general welfare.” *Id.* at § 6-29-710(A). Title 6 also includes the only procedure for enactment or amendment of zoning ordinances, § 6-29-760, and the process for appealing from the zoning board, § 6-29-820, among other forms of process, see §§ 6-29-825, 6-29-850. These are processes which must be followed.

Pursuant to the authority conferred under § 6-29-710, Respondent enacted the City of Folly Beach Zoning and Land Development Ordinance (“ZDO”), which contains a comprehensive scheme for planning, approving, and rezoning real estate parcels to ensure efficient, equitable, and reasoned land use decisions in the City of Folly Beach. Folly Beach, South Carolina Code of Ordinances (amlegal.com), Code § 160 et seq. The purpose and intent of the ZDO “is to guide development in accordance with the existing and future needs of the city and its Comprehensive Plan, and to promote the public health, safety, convenience, order, appearance, prosperity, and general welfare of the landowners and residents of the city, and other members of the public.” *Id.* at § 160.03-01. In conjunction with the processes set forth in Title 6, the ZDO defines both the substantive and the procedural due process to which landowners are entitled prior to a zoning change and sets forth procedures which must be followed prior to changing a zoning classification.

See Folly Beach, South Carolina Code of Ordinances (amlegal.com), §§ 160, 162, *supra*. Accordingly, both Title 6 and the ZDO set forth the standards by which a zoning amendment will be evaluated so as to comport with substantive due process and the steps to be followed so as to comport with procedural due process.

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