RECEIVED

Sep 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000814

Folly East Indian Co., LLC,Appellant,

v.

City of Folly Beach,Respondent,

and

Save Folly’s Future, Intervenor.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Joseph C. Wilson, IV (SC Bar No. 63002)
Wilson Law Firm
P.O. Box 178
Folly Beach, SC 29439
(843) 834-2390
jwilson@follybeach.gov
joe@follybeachlaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE INITIATIVE AND REFERENDUM PROCESS CAN AMEND A MUNICIPALITY'S BUSINESS LICENSE REGULATIONS.

This appeal involves a simple issue that is easily answered by the plain language of the applicable statute: Can the Initiative and Referendum process set forth in South Carolina Code §§ 5-17-10, *et seq.* amend a municipality's business license regulations?

The plain language of South Carolina's Initiative and Referendum statute makes clear that *any ordinance* other than one that appropriates money or levies a tax can be adopted by Referendum:

The electors of a municipality may propose *any ordinance*, except an ordinance appropriating money or authorizing the levy of taxes. Any initiated ordinance may be submitted to the council by a petition signed by qualified electors of the municipality equal in number to at least fifteen percent of the registered voters at the last regular municipal election and certified by the municipal election commission as being in accordance with the provisions of this section.

South Carolina Code Ann. § 5-17-10 (emphasis added).

Based on the plain language of the statute, a municipality's business license ordinance can be amended by Initiative and Referendum so long as it does not appropriate money or levy a tax. The Petition did not appropriate money or levy a tax.

Appellant attempts to escape the clear language of Section 5-17-10 by relying on the South Carolina Supreme Court case of *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000). The Court in *I'On* added a limitation not contained in the explicit language of Section 5-17-10. The Court ruled that “*zoning* by initiative and referendum is not allowed in South Carolina.” *Id.* at 725 (emphasis added).

The *I'On* decision is not applicable here because the Petition did not seek to change the City's Zoning Code and did not rezone any property. Rather, the Petition amended the City's

Short-Term Rental Ordinance, which is codified as part of the City’s Business Regulations, not the City’s Zoning Code. Short-Term Rental Ordinance, R. pp. ___-___. The *I’On* decision only bars the Initiative and Referendum process from amending a municipality’s zoning code, which must be adopted pursuant to the procedures set out in South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, South Carolina Code §§ 6-29-310, *et seq.* (hereinafter “Comprehensive Planning Act). Since the Comprehensive Planning Act does not encompass business regulations, *I’On* is not applicable to this Petition.

Folly Beach’s Short-Term Rental Ordinance is, and always has been, part of the City’s Business Regulations, not the City’s Zoning Ordinance. Pope Affidavit, Paragraphs 4-10, R. pp. ___-. The City first adopted its Short-Term Rental Ordinance in 2010 as part its Business Regulations contained in Title XI of the City’s Municipal Code. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 5, R. p. ___. For the past 14 years, the Short-Term Rental Ordinance has been amended multiple times, but it has always remained part of the Business Regulations.

The City’s Short-Term Rental Ordinance has never been part of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, contained in Title XV of the City’s Code of Ordinances. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 4, R. p. ___. The Short-Term Rental Ordinance was not adopted or amended pursuant to the procedures set out in South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, South Carolina Code §§ 6-29-310, *et seq.* Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 4-6, R. pp. ___-___. Both the original Short-Term Rental Ordinance and all of the amendments to the Short-Term Rental Ordinance have been adopted as a normal ordinance after two readings by City Council. South Carolina Code § 5-7-270.

As Appellant has acknowledged, Appellant’s Brief, Page 3, when the City was considering a cap on short-term rental business licenses prior to the Petition, the City did not treat the

amendment as a zoning ordinance that went through the Planning Commission. Rather, the Mayor proposed a set of amendments to the City's Short-Term Rental Ordinance that included a cap on short-term rental business licenses. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 10, R. p. ___.

In short, the Short-Term Rental Regulations are not part of the City's Zoning Ordinance and are not governed by the Comprehensive Planning Act. The Petition made no changes to the City's Zoning Ordinance and, therefore, does not run afoul of the decision in *I'On*.

Moreover, the Supreme Court rejected the argument that all ordinances that touch upon the use of land must be adopted as a zoning ordinance. Local governments "may enact ordinances regulating land use in two fashions: one, pursuant to a comprehensive zoning plan, . . . **and** two, pursuant to their police powers . . ." *Greenville Cnty. v. Kenwood Enterprises, Inc.*, 353 S.C. 157, 577 S.E.2d 428, 432 (2003), *overruled on other grounds by Byrd v. City of Hartsville*, 365 S.C. 650, 620 S.E.2d 76 (2005) (*quoting Onslow County v. Moore*, 129 N.C.App. 376, 499 S.E.2d 780, *review denied*, 525 S.E.2d 453 (N.C.1998) (emphasis in original)).

In other words, the Comprehensive Planning Act did not preempt the entire field of business regulations or "completely prohibit any other local enactments from touching upon zoning or land use." *Kenwood Enterprises, Inc.*, 577 S.E.2d at 432 (citing *Bugsy's, Inc. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 340 S.C. 87, 530 S.E.2d 890 (2000)). Rather, local governments are entitled to regulate businesses through their general police powers granted under the Home Rule Act, South Carolina Code § 5-7-30. And by extension, ordinances adopted through the Initiative and Referendum process are not barred by *I'On* simply because they touch upon the use of land. If the petition, like the one in this case, amends a business license ordinance adopted by police powers, it is not a zoning ordinance and, therefore, not barred by *I'On*.

A. THE I'ON DECISION ONLY EXCLUDES ZONING ORDINANCES FROM THE INITIATIVE AND REFERENDUM PROCESS.

Appellant attempts to escape the clear language of Section 5-17-10 by relying on the South Carolina Supreme Court case of *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000). The Court in *I'On* added a limitation not contained in the explicit language of Section 5-17-10. The Court ruled that “zoning by initiative and referendum is not allowed in South Carolina.” *Id.* at 725 (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court took the unusual step of adding an additional exclusion to Section 5-17-10 because it found that the Initiative and Referendum process was not compatible with the Comprehensive Planning Act’s process for amending zoning ordinances. South Carolina Code § 6-29-760 (setting out procedure for amending zoning regulations or maps). The Court decided that “the detailed nature of zoning acts indicates a legislative intent that zoning matters must be decided only in the manner specified in those acts.” *Id.* at 720-21. The Court found that the Initiative and Referendum process to amend a zoning ordinance could result “in arbitrary decisions and patchwork zoning with little rhyme or reason,” and would nullify carefully developed rules for adoption of zoning provisions. *Id.* at 719-21.

We decline to interpret the “any ordinance” language in Section 5–17–10 to encompass zoning by initiative and referendum. The obvious incompatibility between the initiative and referendum process and the comprehensive Title 6 provisions indicates the Legislature did not intend to allow voters to enact more complex zoning measures by initiative and referendum. Furthermore, the Title 6 provisions enacted in 1994 address the matter of zoning in detail. We conclude the Legislature intended for this more specific and more recent enactment to take precedence over the general initiative and referendum process enacted thirty-seven years ago.

Id. at 721. The Court’s ruling was clearly limited to *complex zoning measures* that are subject to the Comprehensive Planning Act and can only be amended pursuant to the procedures of the Comprehensive Planning Act.

Zoning ordinances are adopted “for the general purposes of guiding *development* in accordance with existing and future needs and promoting the public health, safety, morals, convenience, order, appearance, prosperity, and general welfare.” South Carolina Code § 6-29-710(A) (emphasis added). “‘Land development’ means the changing of land characteristics through redevelopment, construction, subdivision into parcels, condominium complexes, apartment complexes, commercial parks, shopping centers, industrial parks, mobile home parks, and similar developments for sale, lease, or any combination of owner and rental characteristics.” South Carolina Code § 6-29-1110(2). In other words, the Comprehensive Planning Act, and the decision in *I’On*, are primarily concerned with ordinances that regulate the *development* of land and are contained in a municipality’s zoning code.

The goals of a zoning ordinance “include the prevention of overcrowding of people, buildings, and traffic; the preservation of historic and ecologically sensitive areas; and the adequate provision of services to residents.” *I’On*, 526 S.E.2d at 720. Zoning ordinances address building size, density of development, parking, and buffer areas. *Id.*

The challenged petition in *I’On* was a classic zoning ordinance. That petition proposed to rezone a 243-acre tract from Planned Development to R-1 (residential), quite obviously a zoning measure. *Id.* at 717-18. The tract had already been through the lengthy zoning regulatory process dictated by the Comprehensive Planning Act to change the zoning from R-1 to Planned Development. This included review and approval by the Town’s Zoning Board and adoption by Town Council. It was undoubtedly a zoning measure adopted in accord with the state’s zoning

laws. After the rezoning, a referendum and petition then sought to directly undo this zoning process by reverting the property back to R-1. The petition was clearly a zoning ordinance, whereas the Petition in this matter is clearly a business license ordinance.

In short, both the facts and the Court’s reasoning in *I’On* show that the ruling only applies to amendments to zoning ordinances adopted pursuant to the Comprehensive Planning Act. Since this court-created exclusion is not contained in the language of Section 5-17-10, it should be read narrowly and applied only to zoning ordinances. *Kenwood Enterprises, Inc.*, 577 S.E.2d at 433 (“To accept [plaintiffs’] expansive reading of *I’On* would necessarily eviscerate a County’s ability to exercise its police power if that exercise in any way impacted land use.”). Since the Petition in this matter did not amend any zoning ordinance, *I’On* does not control this matter.

B. THE PETITION WAS NOT A ZONING ORDINANCE.

1. The Petition amended the City’s Business Code, not the City’s Zoning Code.

The Petition in this case was not a zoning ordinance governed by the Comprehensive Planning Act. It did not amend the City’s Zoning Ordinance. The Petition changed no language in the City’s Zoning Code, contained in Title XV of the City’s Code of Ordinances. The Petition only amended the City’s existing Business Regulations, contained in Title XI of the City’s Code of Ordinances. Short-Term Rental Ordinance, R. pp. ___-__.

Folly Beach’s Short-Term Rental Ordinance is, and always has been, part of the City’s Business Regulations, not the City’s Zoning Ordinance. Pope Affidavit, Paragraphs 4-10, R. pp. ___-___. The City first adopted its Short-Term Rental Ordinance in 2010 as part its Business Regulations contained in Title XI of the City’s Municipal Code. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 5, R. p. ___. For the past 14 years, the Short-Term Rental Ordinance has been amended multiple times,

but it has always remained part of the Business Regulations. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 6, R. pp. ___-__.

The City's Short-Term Rental Ordinance has never been part of the City's Zoning Ordinance, contained in Title XV of the City's Code of Ordinances. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 4, R. p. __. The Short-Term Rental Ordinance was not adopted or amended pursuant to the procedures set out in Comprehensive Planning. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 6, R. pp. ___-___. Both the original Short-Term Rental Ordinance and all of the amendments to the STR Ordinance have been adopted as a normal ordinance after two readings by City Council. South Carolina Code § 5-7-270.

As Appellant has acknowledged, Appellant's Brief, Page 3, when the City was considering a cap on short-term rental business licenses prior to the Petition, the City did not treat the amendment as a zoning ordinance that went through the Planning Commission. Rather, the Mayor proposed a set of amendments to the City's Short-Term Rental Ordinance that included a cap on short-term rental business licenses. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 10, R. p. ___.

In short, the Short-Term Rental Regulations are not part of the City's Zoning Ordinance and are not governed by the Comprehensive Planning Act. The Petition made no changes to the City's Zoning Ordinance and, therefore, does not run afoul of the decision in *I'On*.

2. The STR Ordinance amended by the Petition does not look or act like a zoning ordinance.

In addition to not being codified in the City's zoning code, the City's Short-Term Rental Ordinance amended by the Petition looks nothing like a zoning ordinance. The Petition amended the City's Business License Code because that was clearly the proper place to put them. The Petition and Amendment creating the cap on business licenses and the City's Short-Term Rental Ordinance are undoubtedly regulations of businesses, not land. The Petition limited the number

of business licenses issued for short-term rentals. The Petition applied the cap to the entire City. It did not limit the operation of short-term rentals to any particular district, but instead regulated the operation of short-term rentals uniformly throughout the entire City.

The Petition did not restrict Appellant's use of its property. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 18, R. p. ___. The Petition did not rezone any property, as occurred in *I'On*. The Petition did not impact the development or use of any property. All residential properties in the City can still operate short-term rentals so long as they have a business license for same. The Petition did not impact the development or use of Appellant's property. Appellant continues to operate short-term rentals on all its properties and can continue to do so in the future so long as it has a business license to do so. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 18, R. p. ___. In other words, the amendment to the Short-Term Rental Ordinance simply places additional conditions on the issuance of licenses to operate a short-term rental. It places no restriction on any property in the City. Pope Affidavit, Paragraph 4, R. pp. ___-___.

The Petition did not result "in arbitrary decisions and patchwork zoning with little rhyme or reason." *I'On*, 526 S.E.2d at 721. It did not nullify carefully developed rules for adoption of zoning provisions. *Id.* It merely adopted a cap on business licenses that the City had studied for over a year, but Council declined to adopt. Pope Affidavit, Paragraphs 9-10, R. pp. ___-___.

The regulation of business through the issuance of business licenses is not the same thing as a zoning ordinance. Licenses confer no property right. Rather, they are permits to operate a business issued pursuant to the government's general police power. *Army Navy Bingo, Garrison No. 2196 v. Plowden*, 281 S.C. 226, 314 S.E.2d 339 (1984); *Feldman v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n*, 203 S.C. 49, 26 S.E.2d 22 (1943) (liquor licenses). Ordinances that regulate businesses, even those that control where a business may be operated, are considered business regulations

adopted pursuant to the municipality's general police powers, not part of the zoning ordinance. *Kenwood Enterprises*, 577 S.E.2d at 428. In short, business license ordinances control how a business is operated.

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